
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

 

 

DAVID E. BOUNDY, an individual, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK 

OFFICE 

 

Defendant\s. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Civil Action No.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

UNDER 5 U.S.C. § 552 

1. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, for injunctive, 

declaratory, and other appropriate relief.  Plaintiff David E. Boundy challenges the failure of the 

United States Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”) to respond to requests for records 

maintained by the agency. 

2. This case seeks declaratory relief that the PTO is in violation of the FOIA, 

specifically: (1) 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A), for failing to provide all responsive records; (2) 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A), for failing to provide Mr. Boundy with a determination on his request 

within 20 business days; (3) 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A), for failing to comply with the FOIA 

deadlines; (4) injunctive relief ordering the PTO to process and release to Mr. Boundy 

immediately the requested records in their entirety; (5) and attorneys’ fees and litigation costs. 
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NATURE OF THE CASE 

3. Plaintiff David E. Boundy brings this action under the Freedom of Information 

Act ("FOIA"), 5 U.S.C. § 552, which allows an aggrieved party to seek relief when records are 

unlawfully withheld or delayed.  FOIA requires agencies to produce records in 20 business days, 

with limited 10-day extensions.  Plaintiff Mr. Boundy requested records that state the rules used 

by the PTO to evaluate matters that affect members of the public.  These records should have 

been published as a matter of course years ago.  § 552(a)(2)(B) and (C).  The FOIA request has 

now been pending for over eight months, with no records produced and no determination. 

4. At issue in this case are records that are relied on by agency staff as if they were 

binding rules, and of which the public has no notice.  These records are used to determine 

validity of signatures of documents submitted by members of the public, for example, an 

applicant’s signature on a Power of Attorney.  Attorneys regularly complain that the PTO refuses 

to accept Powers of Attorney for reasons that are entirely unpredictable.  For example, 91 patent 

and trademark attorneys co-signed a letter on the issue during a recent notice-and-comment 

period.  https://downloads.regulations.gov/PTO-P-2021-0018-0002/attachment_1.pdf .  A 2013 

PTO document (see Exhibit A) exemplifies the unpredictability.  This PTO document sets out 

instructions to PTO staff for evaluating signatures. Those instructions have no rational relation to 

the legal principles relating corporate titles to power to act on behalf of the company and no 

rational connection to practical operating practices of typical companies.  This 2013 document is 

unpublished, the criteria in this 2013 document are not published in the Federal Register, are not 

published on the PTO’s web site, and are not made available in the manner required by the 

Administrative Procedure Act’s basic notice statute, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(2)(B) and (C).  On March 

12, 2021, Mr. Boundy filed a FOIA request for records to reveal these secret signature 
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acceptance criteria, so that they could be disseminated to the public, to provide the public with 

the statutorily-required notice and predictability 

5. Two months after the FOIA statutory deadline for production, a PTO 

representative sent an email to Mr. Boundy that promised to produce records on a “rolling basis.”  

Five months later, the PTO had produced nothing.  Mr. Boundy has sent PTO officials several 

emails (e.g., Exhibit F and Exhibit H) and left PTO officials several voice mail messages 

offering to retune the request to reduce work, and reassuring that he would be available to 

discuss any issues by phone.  As of November 30, 2021, Mr. Boundy has not received any 

response to those requests. 

6. FOIA authorizes a reviewing court to enjoin the agency from withholding records 

and to order the production of any agency records improperly withheld from the complainant.  

§ 552(a)(4)(B).   

7. Mr. Boundy alleges: 

a. he provided the PTO a well-defined request for well-specified records; and 

b. the PTO both failed to timely produce the requested records and to timely provide 

a “determination” . 

8. This case seeks declaratory relief that the PTO is in violation of the FOIA for 

failing to timely fulfill Mr. Boundy’s request for records, and injunctive ordering the PTO to 

immediately and fully comply with Mr. Boundy’s request under the FOIA. 

PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff David E. Boundy is an individual residing in Newton, Massachusetts.  

Mr. Boundy is an attorney admitted in Massachusetts, New York, the Southern and Eastern 
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Districts of New York, the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, and the United States 

Supreme Court, and the United States Patent and Trademark Office. 

10. Defendant PTO is a component agency within the U.S. Department of Commerce, 

and it is the agency responsible for issuing U.S. patents.  The PTO is headquartered in 

Alexandria, Virginia.  Defendant PTO is an “agency” within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(f) 

and 701(b)(1).  

11. The PTO has possession and control of the requested records and is responsible 

for fulfilling Mr. Boundy’s FOIA requests. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B), which 

allows an aggrieved party to seek relief when records are unlawfully withheld or delayed, and 

authorizes a reviewing court to enjoin the agency from withholding records and to order the 

production of any agency records improperly withheld from the complainant.  5 U.S.C. § 706(1) 

also gives the Court jurisdiction to “compel agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably 

delayed.”  This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

13. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the PTO pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 

§§ 552(a)(4)(B) and 706(1), because the PTO is an agency of the federal government and 

operating within the United States. 

14. By statute, § 552(a)(6)(C)(i), a requester satisfies constructive exhaustion of 

administrative remedies if the agency fails to meet any of the deadlines of § 552(a)(6).  The PTO 

failed to meet at least one relevant deadline, and thus Mr. Boundy benefits from constructive 

exhaustion. 
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15. Venue lies in the United States District for the Eastern District of Virginia under 

5 U.S.C. § 703, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1), and under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) because the PTO is 

resident of the Eastern District, 35 U.S.C. § 1(b), and the records sought are most likely situated 

in the PTO’s principal office at 600 Dulaney St., Alexandria, VA 22314, which is located within 

the Eastern District. 

STATUORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

16. The Freedom of Information Act requires that an agency, upon any request for 

records, shall make the requested records available promptly, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A), unless 

certain extensions of time specified in statute apply (not applicable here), and unless one or more 

statutory exemptions apply (likewise not applicable here). 

17. The PTO has FOIA regulations, as required by 5 U.S.C. § 552, elaborating the 

PTO’s statutory obligations to respond to FOIA requests.  37 C.F.R. Part 102. 

18. FOIA sets the following deadlines. 

19. A maximum of 10 days for intra-agency mailroom routing.  An agency’s 

deadlines run from the date of “receipt” of a request by the relevant “component” of the agency.  

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii) limits an agency to delaying “receipt” by no more than ten calendar 

days for mailroom and intra-agency routing. 

20. 20 business days for a “determination.”  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A) gives an 

agency twenty (20) business days after the date of receipt of the request to either produce the 

requested records, or provide a “determination” letter that must include all of the following 

components: 

a. the “determination” whether the agency intends to comply with the request, and 

the reasons therefor, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(I); 
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b.  the right of the requester to seek assistance from the FOIA Public Liaison of the 

agency, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(II); 

c. if the determination is adverse, the right of the requester to appeal the agency’s 

determination to the agency head. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i) and 

§ 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(III)(aa); 

d. if the determination is adverse, the right of the requester to seek dispute resolution 

services from the PTO’s FOIA Public Liaison or Office of Government 

Information Services. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(III)(bb); 

e. a date for production, which may be extended no more than ten additional days 

for “unusual circumstances” (as specified by 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B)) or a further 

explanation and invitation to reframe the request as specified by 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(6)(B)(ii). 

f. if the determination is adverse, the letter “shall set forth the names and titles or 

positions of each person responsible for the denial of such request.” 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(6)(C)(i). 

g. a “determination” that triggers the requirement for administrative exhaustion  

requires the agency to have “(i) gather[ed] and review[ed] the documents; (ii) 

determine[d] and communicate[d] the scope of the documents it intends to 

produce and withhold, and [stated] the reasons for withholding any documents; 

and (iii) inform[ed] the requester that it can appeal whatever portion of the 

“determination” is adverse,” Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington 

v Federal Election Comm’n, 711 F.3d 180, 186-87 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (Kavanaugh, 

J.) (CREW). 
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h. at least the showings of paragraphs 20.a, 20.c, and 20.e, with “the reasons 

therefor,” 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i), are each independently necessary, and 

omission of any one is a failure to provide a “determination” that satisfies the 20-

business-day limit of 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A).  CREW, 711 F.3d at 186-87. 

21. No statute authorizes the agency to extend beyond the 20 business days of 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A) unless accompanied by a showing of “unusual circumstances.”  “Unusual 

circumstances” are defined by statute, § 552(a)(6)(B). 

22. No statute authorizes an agency to withhold records for the eight months that has 

occurred here. 

23. If an agency fails to comply with the deadlines set by statute, the agency may not 

assess any search fee. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(viii)(I). 

24. Constructive exhaustion.  An agency’s failure to make this determination within 

20 business days results in constructive exhaustion of administrative remedies. 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(6)(C)(i). 

25. Fee waiver.  Under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(iii), requesters may request a public 

interest fee waiver for the records, which requires an agency to furnish records without any 

charge or at a reduced charge where a disclosure is in the public interest, because it is likely to 

contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the government 

and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester. 

26. Attorney fee award.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E) provides for an award of attorney 

fees and litigation costs  if the complainant substantially prevails, even if government acts moot 

the case, Nationwide Bldg. Maintenance, Inc. v. Sampson, 559 F.2d 704, 710  (D.C. Cir. 1977), 

and based upon well defined factors, Negley v. FBI, 818 F.Supp.2d 69 (D.D.C. 2011). 
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27. These well defined factors are (1) the public benefit derived from the case; (2) the 

commercial benefit to the plaintiff; (3) the nature of the plaintiff's interest in the records; and (4) 

the reasonableness of the agency's withholding of the requested documents.  

28. Referral to special counsel.  If the court orders production of improperly-

withheld records, and attorney fees are assessed against the agency (5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E)), 

and the court makes an additional written finding that “the circumstances surrounding the 

withholding raise questions whether agency personnel acted arbitrarily or capriciously,” that 

finding triggers an investigation by the Attorney General’s FOIA Special Counsel.  5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(4)(F); cf. Bergeron v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, 2016 WL 

1229050, at *1 (D. Nev. 2016) (statute says “raise questions whether”).  The relevant 

“withholding” may be the failure to publish agency rules when they were initially promulgated, § 

552(a)(1) and (2), in addition to “withholding” in response to a FOIA request.  New York Legal 

Assistance Gp. v. Board of Immigration Appeals, 987 F.3d 207, 218-19 (2d Cir. 2021). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

29. March 12: Mr. Boundy’s Initial Request.  On March 12, 2021, at “Date: Friday, 

March 12, 2021 11:51:33 AM”, Mr. Boundy sent the initial request by email (Exhibit A) to the 

PTO. It fully complied with PTO FOIA Regulation in 37 CFR § 102.4(a) and (b), as “[t]he 

records requested [were] described in enough detail to enable USPTO personnel to locate them 

with a reasonable amount of effort.” 

a. The request included an attached exhibit, a known PTO document as an example 

of the documents sought. 

b. The request was sent to the email addresses specified by the PTO for receipt of 

FOIA requests, FOIARequests@uspto.gov and efoia@uspto.gov. 
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30. Email is normally delivered in a few seconds, not hours or days. 

31. It is overwhelmingly likely that the March 12 email was delivered in fact on 

March 12. On that basis, Mr. Boundy pleads that the email was delivered March 12. 

32.  Twenty business days from March 12 sets a “determination” date of April 9, 

2021. 

33. March 31: PTO Acknowledgement letter. On March 31, 2021, the PTO sent a 

letter (by email) acknowledging receipt of the March 12, 2021 request.  The PTO’s letter was 

sent by email from email address FOIARequests@uspto.gov (see Exhibit B). The PTO’s March 

31 letter assigns a FOIA request number F-21-00084.  The PTO’s March 31 letter stated that the 

“Agency expects to send its response to this request no later than Monday, April 26, 2021.”  

34. The PTO’s March 31, 2021 letter claims that the request was “received by the 

United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) FOIA Office on Monday, March 29, 

2021” (emphasis in original). 

35. March 29 is more than 10 days after March 12 (ten days is the maximum time 

allotted by statute for mailroom and intra-agency routing, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii)). 

36. The PTO’s March 31 acknowledgment letter gives no explanation for the PTO’s 

alleged date of receipt of March 29 instead of March 12. 

37. The March 31 letter does not contain the showings and notifications necessary for 

it to be a 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i) statutory “determination.” 

38. Pursuant to § 552(a)(4)(viii)(I), the PTO delay prevents the PTO from assessing 

search fees and duplication fees. 
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39. April 12: PTO fee estimate letter.  The PTO sent its second response on April 

12, 2021 estimating its search costs at $739.45 and demanded payment within 30 days. (Exhibit 

C). 

40. The PTO’s April 12, 2021 letter also omits the information required for a 

“determination” under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6). 

41. May 10: Mr. Boundy’s request for fee waiver.   On May 10, 2021, Mr. Boundy 

sent a letter to the PTO (Exhibit D) requesting a fee waiver, pursuant to several of the criteria of 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(F)(i) 

42. June 16: PTO email waiving fees.  The PTO took no action on the May 10, 2021 

letter until June 16, 2021, over a month later. On June 16, 2021, the PTO sent an email (Exhibit 

E) confirming that the request “will be processed without fees due to an error on my part with 

regards to the date of receipt.”  In the email, the PTO indicated that it identified “a large number 

of potentially responsive records” and that it will need unspecified amount of “time to complete 

your request,” and where possible, provide “any responsive documents on a ‘rolling’ basis.” 

43. The PTO’s June 16, 2021 email is inadequate to be a “determination” pursuant to 

the FOIA statute: 

a. The PTO’s email of June 16, 2021 admits that the search for responsive records 

has not been completed and did not “at least indicate within the relevant time 

period the scope of the documents it will produce and the exemptions it will claim 

with respect to any withheld documents.” CREW v. FEC, 711 F.3d 180, 189 (D.C. 

Cir. 2013).  Instead, it states that, “Where possible” the PTO will “responsive 

documents on a 'rolling’ basis,” and, sets no date whatsoever for completion, and, 

provides no “reasons therefor” for setting any date after 20 business days. All 
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these things are necessary for there to have been a statutory “determination” 

letter.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(I); CREW, supra. 

b. The PTO’s email of June 16, 2021does not state the right of the requester to seek 

assistance from the FOIA Public Liaison of the agency, as required for a a 

“determination” letter.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(II). 

c. PTO’s email of June 16, 2021 does not state the requester’s right to appeal the 

agency’s determination to the agency head, as required for a “determination” 

letter.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i) and § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(III)(aa). 

d. PTO’s email of June 16, 2021 does not state the right of the requester to seek 

dispute resolution services from the PTO’s FOIA Public Liaison or Office of 

Government Information Services, as required for a “determination” letter.  5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)(III)(bb) 

e. The PTO could have extended the 20-business-day deadline for an additional ten 

days by identifying “unusual circumstances,” pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B).  

The PTO’s email of June 16, 2021 does not seek any statutory extension and it 

does not explain “unusual circumstances” that would permit the agency to extend 

ten days, let alone eight months. 

44. June 16: Boundy Reply. On June 16, 2021, Mr. Boundy replied by email 

(Exhibit F) indicating the limited scope of his request and offering to discuss by phone “plausible 

way to reduce work for you.” 

45. No communication was received from the PTO between June 16 and November 

15. 
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46. November 15: PTO email. The PTO’s next communication came on November 

15, 2021, by email (Exhibit G).  This communication was not accompanied by either responsive 

records or the showings necessary for a “determination” letter as required by the FOIA statute. 

The PTO’s email stated only that the FOIA Officer attempted to reach Mr. Boundy by phone and 

could not leave a voicemail message. 

47. Neither the call log on Mr. Boundy’s phone nor the call log at Mr. Boundy’s 

carrier show any call from any 571 phone number between October 1 and November 29, except 

for calls identifiable as being to/from patent examiners.    

48. Mr. Boundy replied to the PTO’s email on November 15 (Exhibit H), and left 

voice mail message on November 15 and November 23.  To date, Mr. Boundy has received no 

return phone call from the PTO FOIA office. 

49. To date, Mr. Boundy has received neither the records sought nor a 

“determination” under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)  in response to Mr. Boundy’s March 12, 2021 

FOIA Request, now identified as “F-21-00084.” 

50. The PTO has failed to comply with the timing requirements for a FOIA 

determination. 

51. The PTO has failed to comply with the FOIA production requirements.  

52. Had the PTO taken all lawful extensions, and even the PTO’s date of “receipt” of 

the request, the latest date on which records could be produced expired long ago (10 calendar 

days for mailroom routing, plus 20 business days, plus the time between the PTO’s fee estimate 

letter and the June 16 email granting the fee waiver, plus 10 additional business days for 

“unusual” circumstances). 
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53. The PTO has not provided any communication that satisfies requirements for a 

“determination” pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)e.  Mr. Boundy has constructively exhausted 

his administrative remedies of 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i). 

PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6): Failure to Produce Records or a Determination 

Within Statutory Time Limit 

54. All preceding paragraphs are repeated, realleged, and incorporated herein by 

reference. 

55. Mr. Boundy’s FOIA Request F-21-00084 of March 12, 2021 is a valid FOIA 

request, requesting identified records within the PTO’s custody and control.  

FOIARequests@uspto.gov is the PTO’s designated point of receipt for FOIA requests. 

56. The PTO has offered no claim of statutory exemption, and no statutorily 

recognized claim of “unusual” circumstances to extend time. 

57. Therefore, the PTO violated the 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B) 20-business-day 

deadline. 

58. The claim by the PTO’s Office of General Counsel that the March 12 FOIA 

request was “received by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) FOIA Office 

on Monday, March 29, 2021” is inconsistent with the evidence.  This misdating raises questions 

whether agency personnel acted arbitrarily or capriciously. 

59. A receipt date of March 29 is more than the maximum ten calendar days that by 

which a receipt date could be extended for actual mailroom and intra-agency routing delays of 

receipt.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii). 
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60. The PTO wrongfully withheld responsive agency records requested by Mr. 

Boundy in his FOIA Request F-21-00084 of March 12, 2021, 5 U.S. C. §§ 552(a)(3)(A), 

552(a)(4)(B), and by failing to timely provide a “determination” on that request as required by 5 

U.S. C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i). 

61. The circumstances surrounding the withholding raise questions whether agency 

personnel acted arbitrarily or capriciously. 

62. Plaintiff Mr. Boundy is entitled to declaratory judgment and injunctive relief with 

respect to the search, identification, release and disclosure of the records requested in Mr. 

Boundy’s FOIA Request F-21-00084 of March 12, 2021. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, as relief, Plaintiff Mr. Boundy requests an order of this Court: 

A. Declaring, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552, that the PTO violated the Freedom of 

Information Act by failing to lawfully and timely satisfy Mr. Boundy’s March 12, 2021 FOIA 

request; 

B. Ordering the PTO to immediately and expeditiously conduct a search that is 

reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant records, process and release all non-exempt records 

responsive to Mr. Boundy’s FOIA Request F-21-00084 of March 12, 2021, at no cost to Mr. 

Boundy; 

C. Retaining jurisdiction of this action to ensure expeditious processing of Mr. 

Boundy’s FOIA Request F-21-00084 of March 12, 2021 and to ensure that no agency records are 

wrongfully withheld; 

D. Awarding of attorneys’ fees and litigation costs to the Mr. Boundy pursuant to 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E) and/or 28 U.S.C. § 2412; 
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E. Finding that the circumstances surrounding the withholding raise questions 

whether agency personnel acted arbitrarily or capriciously; and 

F. Granting Mr. Boundy such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

Date:  12/7/2021 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

/s/ Richard Neifeld                               
Neifeld IP Law PLLC 
9112 Shearman Street, Fairfax VA 22032-1479, 
United States 
Mobile/Office: 7034150012 

Fax: 15712810045 
Email: rneifeld@neifeld.com 
VA Bar: 37310 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff David Boundy 
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Exhibit B Acknowledgement letter from FOIARequests@uspto.gov to Boundy, 

acknowledging FOIA request and proposing to produce by April 26, 2021 (Mar. 31, 
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Exhibit C Letter PTO to Boundy, estimating fees of $739.45 (Apr. 12, 2021) 

Exhibit D Letter Boundy to PTO, requesting fee waiver (May 10, 2021) 

Exhibit E Email Dorothy Campbell (PTO) to Boundy, acknowledging error in date 

of receipt, and proposing rolling production (Jun. 16, 2021) 
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FOIA request email Boundy to 

FOIARequests@uspto.gov (Mar. 12, 2021) 
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Exhibit B 
 

Acknowledgement letter from FOIARequests@uspto.gov 

to Boundy, acknowledging FOIA request and proposing 

to produce by April 26, 2021 (Mar. 31, 2021) 
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Letter PTO to Boundy, estimating fees of $739.45 (Apr. 

12, 2021) 
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Exhibit C 
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Exhibit C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit D 
 

Letter Boundy to PTO, requesting fee waiver (May 10, 

2021) 
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Exhibit D 
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Exhibit D 
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Exhibit E 
 

Email Dorothy Campbell (PTO) to Boundy, 

acknowledging error in date of receipt, and proposing 

rolling production (Jun. 16, 2021) 
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Exhibit F 
 

Email Boundy to Campbell (Jun. 16, 2021) 
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Exhibit G 
 

Email Campbell to Boundy (Nov. 15, 2021) 
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Exhibit H 
 

Email Boundy to Campbell (Nov. 15, 2021) 
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